
 1 

                                APPROVED 
TOWN OF LOUDON 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES OF JUNE 26, 2014 

 
Chairman Dave Powelson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  
 

 
ROLL CALL 

The following members were present:  Chairman Dave Powelson, Howard Pearl, Roy Merrill, Ned Lizotte, Earl 
Tuson, and alternates George Saunderson and Charlie Aznive.   
 

 
ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES 

Regular Hearing

 

 – Ned Lizotte moved to accept the minutes of May 22, 2014 as written; seconded by Earl 
Tuson.  All were in favor.   

 
PUBLIC HEARING 

Application #Z14-06, Tina White/Carrie James

 Ms. White explained that she and Ms. James board dogs from time to time, and they were told they had 
to see the ZBA by Chief Fiske.  Ms. James stated that they have three of their own dogs; she does dog training 
at clients’ homes.  She said they would board one or two dogs at a time, no more than three overnight.  Ms. 
James stated that she does have a three-dog family that asks for her services at times.  She explained that the 
dogs are generally there for a couple of days at a time, none stay outside, and they are all in the home with the 
family.  Someone is home when the boarded dogs are there; they are not unsupervised.  Ms. James said they 
dog sit; it would not really be a full kennel but that seemed to be the best fit for application purposes.  No 
grooming is done.  The duration of stays varies depending on the client’s needs; it varies from one night to one 
month, which is unusual.   

 – Special Exception for Dog Sitting/Kennel, RR District, Map 
12, Lot 14 on Bee Hole Road.  Abutter Kelly Benaway was present. 

 Chairman Powelson went through the points of the application with Ms. James.  He asked if there were 
any questions from the Board; hearing none, he asked if there were any abutters wishing to speak in favor of the 
application.  Kelly Benaway said she lives across the street from the applicants.  She said she was initially 
against the request but she now has a better understanding of what they want to do so she is okay with it.  Ms. 
Benaway said she wanted to be sure it would not create a lot of traffic as the road is already very busy.  Howard 
Pearl asked what about hours of pick up and drop off.  Ms. James said it would not be before 7:00 a.m. or after 
8:00 p.m.  The chairman asked if there were any abutters wishing to speak against the application.  A letter was 
received from Robert and Lisa Radcliffe.  Chairman Powelson read the Radcliffe letter which asked that the 
application be denied.  The Board reviewed pictures and a tax map that were submitted with the Radcliffe letter.  
Ms. James said the Radcliffe request would seem reasonable if the dogs were to be housed outside but they are 
not out there unsupervised.  She explained they are not housing dogs outside; it is a play yard.  She said they 
offer, on a small scale, a service that allows others’ dogs to live in their home just like their own dogs.   
 Charlie Aznive asked about the definition of kennel.  There were various responses/suggestions.  Ned 
Lizotte asked to clarify if they are here because they run this as a business or a friendly service.  Ms. James said 
the Code Enforcement Officer spoke with her and they felt this was the best fit for what they are doing.  Mr. 
Lizotte asked if a site walk is needed.  Howard Pearl said since the Board has conflicting reports from abutters it 
might be good to take a look.  Mr. Lizotte said that would allow the Board to get a feel for the proximity to 
abutters.  Donna reported to the chairman that the owner of Map 12, Lot 16 was recently in the office to look at 
the application and plan; he was fine with the proposal.   
 A site visit was scheduled for Friday, June 27th at 5:00 p.m.  Howard Pearl made a motion to continue 
this hearing to the site visit and then to the next meeting; seconded by Earl Tuson.  All were in favor.  The 



 2 

next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, July 24, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. in the Community Building.  There will be 
no further notification. 
  
Application #Z14-07, Kenneth Berwick

 

 – Special Exception for Reduced Setback, RR District, Map 1, Lot 2 on 
Ricker Road.  There were no abutters present.  The applicant’s son, Mike Berwick, presented the application.  
He explained that they want to add a 12’ addition on the front of his father’s house so he will have one-floor 
living.  He pointed out that this is the smaller of the two dwellings there and is already in the setbacks.  The 
Board reviewed a plan with the proposed addition.  Chairman Powelson asked if there were any questions from 
the Board.  Ned Lizotte stated that it seems straightforward.  The chairman went through the points of the 
application with Mr. Berwick.  There were no questions from the Board or the public.  Roy Merrill moved to 
approve the application as submitted for a 10’ reduction of the side setback; seconded by Howard Pearl.  
A roll vote was taken:  Howard Pearl – yes; Roy Merrill – yes; Dave Powelson – yes; Ned Lizotte – yes; 
Earl Tuson – yes.  Unanimous - PASSED 

Application #Z14-08, Sthua & Colleen Sliva

 Attorney Puckhaber explained that a cease and desist order was issued by the code enforcement officer.  
She gave a brief history of the property saying there was initially a cellar hole and then a home was built in 
1980.  She said this is a residential property but Mr. Sliva has had an automotive repair business there since 
before zoning.  Ms. Puckhaber said the complaint is that there was a new addition to the business.  She said this 
is not new as there was an existing foundation and cement walls there with Tyvek.  Mr. Sliva said the structure 
was started in 1984; it has been a long time completing it.  The Board reviewed an aerial photo taken in 1998 
which showed the foundation was there at that time.  Mr. Sliva stated that the foundation was done in 1992/93.  
Steve Rutherford said he poured the cement and that was done 15-20 years ago.  Mrs. Sliva helped orient the 
Board members on the photo as compared to the sketch that was submitted with the application.  Howard Pearl 
asked when the area was covered.  Mr. Sliva said it was done within the last couple of years.  He said he also 
did a lean-to to cover a camper.  Roy Merrill said part of the complaint is that there is a camper there with 
people staying in it.  Diane Puckhaber stated that the camper has been there for 20+ years.  It was previously 
protected with tarps then Mr. Sliva added a roof to protect the camper.  Amy Tuttle stated that she stays there in 
the camper.  Mr. Sliva noted that there have been different campers there over the years.  Dave Powelson said 
the camper does not show in the 1998 photo.  Mrs. Sliva pointed out on the photo where it would be.  Board 
members reviewed the building sketch with Mr. Sliva.   

 – Appeal of an Administrative Decision, RR District, Map 12, Lot 
3 on Bee Hole Road.  The applicants and their attorney, Diane Puckhaber, were present.  Also present were 
abutters Brian and Michelle Clark.   

 Roy Merrill and Howard Pearl reviewed the regulations for camping/campers.  Charlie Aznive clarified 
dates of the foundation and reviewed the complaints listed on the cease and desist order.  Roy Merrill said it 
would seem that none of the buildings/issues came prior to zoning.  Dave Powelson read Section 801.1 of the 
Zoning Ordinance, relative to building permits being required.  Ms. Puckhaber referred to the section 
referencing less than ten feet in height and occupies less than one hundred square feet of ground area.  
Chairman Powelson asked if the area is less than 100 SF.  It was noted that the sketch lists the area as 936 SF.  
There was discussion on building permits, adding on, dates of the original building, and how using the 936 SF 
area differently now than before the roof.   
 The Board reviewed the four separate complaints on the cease and desist order.  The chairman asked if 
there were any abutters wishing to speak in favor of or against the application.  Brian and Michelle Clark said 
they are the only neighbors that can actually see the area as they have a direct line of sight.  They stated that 
they have no issue with the situation.   
 It was agreed that a site visit is needed.  The visit was scheduled for Friday, June 27th at 5:30 p.m.  
Howard Pearl made a motion to continue the hearing to the site walk on Friday and then to the next 
meeting; seconded by Ned Lizotte.  All were in favor.  The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, July 24, 
2014 at 7:00 p.m. in the Community Building.  There will be no further notification.  Howard Pearl said he 
would very much like Bob Fiske present at the site walk as he is the one most familiar with the complaints and 
compliance matters.   



 3 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

Howard Pearl made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:19 p.m.; seconded by Roy Merrill.  All were in favor. 
 
Submitted by, 
 
 
Donna White 
Administrative Assistant 


